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MOTION OF THE PEOPLES GAS LIGHT AND COKE COMPANY 
FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
Respondent, The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company (“Peoples Gas”), 

pursuant to Section 200.190 of the Illinois Commerce Commission’s Rules of Practice 

(83 Ill. Admin. Code Sec. 200.190) and the schedule set by the Administrative Law 

Judge, moves for partial summary judgment.  In support, Peoples Gas states: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. On December 15, 2010, the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission”) 

entered an Order initiating this Citation proceeding to determine whether Peoples Gas 

failed to comply with sections 192.13(c) and 192.515(a) of the Code of Federal 

Regulations (49 CFR §§192.13(c) and 192.515(a)), adopted by the Commission 

pursuant to its rules under the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act (83 Ill. Admin. Code Part 

590), with regard to an incident that occurred on March 3, 2010, at 358 West Jackson 

Boulevard in Chicago, Illinois. 

2. As referenced in the Commission’s Order, the Manager of the Commission’s 

Pipeline Safety Program issued a Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) on September 

 



1, 2010, alleging that Peoples Gas violated section 192.13(c), which requires each 

operator to comply with its own procedures.  In the NOPV, the Commission alleged that 

Peoples Gas violated its Distribution Manual Main Work Order 7.100, by failing to 

provide blocking/bracing while conducting a pressure test of its main.  Peoples Gas 

responded to the NOPV on October 1, 2010, in which it denied the allegation and 

provided its interpretation of Work Order 7.100.  Upon review of Peoples Gas’ response 

to the NOPV, Staff issued a Staff Report dated November 10, 2010, in which Staff 

alleged that Peoples Gas also failed to comply with section 192.515(a), by failing to 

provide blocking/bracing during the pressure test.  The Commission incorporated the 

Staff Report into the record of this proceeding. 

3. For the reasons stated herein, section 192.515(a) is not applicable as a matter of 

law.  Therefore, summary judgment must be entered in favor of Peoples Gas with 

regard to this portion of the Citation. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

4. The facts are set forth in the Staff Report dated November 10, 2010.  For the 

limited purpose of this Motion, Peoples Gas accepts the factual allegations in the Staff 

Report as true.1 

5. As set forth in the Staff Report, on March 3, 2010, a Peoples Gas crew arrived at 

358 West Jackson Boulevard to pressure test a segment of 20-inch steel main that had 

been taken out of service for uprating from low pressure to medium pressure.  The crew 

attached fittings to the welded end cap to allow pressurized air to enter the pipe.  The 

                                                 
1
 Peoples Gas denies the legal conclusions contained in the Staff Report, and specifically denies that it 

violated sections 192.13(c) and 192.515(a).  Peoples Gas also specifically denies the Commission’s 
interpretation of the interview of Fred Ulanday, Manager of Technical Training, but his interview has no 
bearing on this summary judgment motion. 



crew did not install blocking/bracing at the end of the pipe.  During the course of the 

pressure test, an undocumented and unexposed mechanical fitting separated, causing 

a segment of the main to move into the trench. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

6. Illinois law is well settled that summary judgment is appropriate where the 

pleadings, affidavits, depositions and admissions on file, when viewed in the light most 

favorable to the nonmoving party, show that there is no genuine issue of material fact 

and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.  735 ILCS 52-

1005(c); Turner v. Northern Illinois Gas Company, 401 Ill. App. 3d 698, 930 N.E. 2d 418 

(2nd Dist. 2010). 

7. Illinois law is also well settled that administrative rules and regulations have the 

force and effect of law, and must be construed under the same standards which govern 

the construction of statutes.  Union Electric Co. v. Department of Revenue, 136 Ill. 2d 

385, 556 N.E. 2d 236 (1990).  In interpreting an agency regulation, the primary objective 

is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the agency.  MD Electrical Contractors, 

Inc. v. Abrams, 228 Ill. 2d at 287.  Where the language of the regulation is clear and 

unambiguous, the court must apply it as written, without resort to extrinsic aids of 

statutory construction.  MD Electrical, 228 Ill. 2d at 287-88. 

8. It is undisputed that on March 3, 2010, Peoples Gas performed a pressure test 

while uprating a segment of main from low pressure to medium pressure.  As set forth 

herein, section 192.515(a) does not apply to uprating procedures, nor does it apply to 

pressure tests performed pursuant to the uprating requirements. 

9. Section 192.515(a), entitled Environmental Protection and Safety Requirements, 

provides:  “In conducting tests under this subpart, each operator shall insure that every 



reasonable precaution is taken to protect its employees and the general public during 

the testing.”  (Emphasis added). 

10. Section 192.515(a) is expressly limited to subpart J of Part 192, entitled, “Test 

Requirements.”  This section does not apply to any other subpart within Part 192. 

11. According to section 192.501, the scope of subpart J is to prescribe minimum 

leak test and strength test requirements related to tests conducted pursuant to this 

subpart.  According to section 192.503(a), the general requirements of subpart J are: 

“No person may operate a new segment of pipeline, or return to service a segment of 

pipeline that has been relocated or replaced” until certain steps are taken.  This subpart 

is expressly limited to testing related to new segments of pipeline, or segments of 

pipeline that have been relocated or replaced. 

12. On March 3, 2010, it is undisputed Peoples Gas did not perform any testing 

related to a new segment of pipeline, or a segment of pipeline that had been relocated 

or replaced.  Rather, Peoples Gas performed a pressure test related to uprating an 

existing segment of pipeline that was not being relocated or replaced.  Subpart J does 

not apply to the work at issue in this proceeding. 

13. Subpart K of Part 192 governs uprating.  According to section 192.551, subpart K 

prescribes minimum safety requirements for increasing maximum allowable operating 

pressures (uprating) for pipelines.  Consistent with these requirements, Peoples Gas 

performed a pressure test pursuant to section 192.553, which provides that before the 

operator can return the segment of pipeline into service at a higher pressure, the 

pressure in the affected segment of the pipeline must be held constant when tested for 

leaks. 



14. Section 192.515(a) is expressly limited to subpart J; section 192.515(a) does not 

apply to subpart K.  Subpart K governs the work at issue in this proceeding.   Subpart K 

(uprating) does not have an equivalent safety provision. 

15. Because section 192.515(a) is inapplicable to the pressure test that Peoples Gas 

performed on March 3, 2010, summary judgment must be entered in favor of Peoples 

Gas with regard to this portion of the Citation. 

 WHEREFORE, The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company respectfully requests 

that partial summary judgment be entered in its favor. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 

      
/s/ MARY KLYASHEFF 

Mary Klyasheff 
 
/s/ BARBARA BARAN 
Barbara Baran 
 
Attorneys for  
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 

Jodi J. Caro 
Mary Klyasheff 
Barbara Baran 
Integrys Business Support, LLC 
Legal Services Department 
130 East Randolph Drive 
Chicago, Illinois  60601 
312-240-4470 
 
Dated at Chicago, Illinois 
this 3rd day of February, 2011 
 
 
Attorneys for 
The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
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NOTICE OF FILING AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
To: Service List 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on February 3, 2011, I have filed with the Chief 

Clerk of the Illinois Commerce Commission, the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 

of The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company, a copy of which is hereby served upon 

you by e-mail, messenger, overnight courier and/or United States Mail on February 3, 

2011. 

 
 

/s/ MARY KLYASHEFF 
Mary Klyasheff 
An Attorney for  
The Peoples Gas Light  
and Coke Company 

 


